RECEIVED

Mar 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefler Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001550

Michael L. Perry and Lonnie L. Long, Respondents,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the circuit court erred in denying A-I-I's motion to set aside default under Rule 55(c), and default judgment under Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure?

2.

Whether A-I-I's federal due process rights were violated where it was improperly defaulted into punitive damages even though none of the three complaints against it alleged specific facts that could support a determination that A-I-I acted fraudulently, willfully, wantonly, or recklessly?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a default judgment in a mesothelioma case.

Plaintiffs filed a summons and complaint in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas on August 4, 2023, pleading several causes of action against fifty-eight defendants for their alleged roles in causing Michael Perry's mesothelioma. One of those defendants was American International Industries (A-I-I), the Appellant in this appeal.¹

Plaintiffs moved for entry of default against A-I-I on September 26, 2023, alleging A-I-I had not filed its answer. A-I-I answered the initial complaint three days later, on September 29, 2023. The circuit court granted Plaintiffs' motion for default on October 3, 2023. A-I-I filed a motion to set aside default on October 10, 2023, and an amended motion to set aside default on October 24, 2023. After a hearing, the circuit court denied the motion on November 2, 2023.

Plaintiffs subsequently filed an amended complaint on November 30, 2023, and a second amended complaint on February 1, 2024. Each amended complaint added one new defendant, bringing the total number of defendants to sixty. A-I-I was served with both amended complaints via NEF and filed timely answers to both.

Many of the defendants in the case ultimately settled for a total amount of \$11,255,000. By the time of trial, only A-I-I and Johnson & Johnson remained. The case proceeded to trial before the Honorable Jean H. Toal and a jury from August 5 – 15, 2024. Plaintiffs were represented by Theile McVey, Jamie Rutkoski, Rachel Gross, Benjamin Adams, and Jonathan George. A-I-I was represented by Stephanie Flynn and Nicholas Cherry. Johnson & Johnson was represented by Matt Bogan, Mitch Brown, Kim Bueno, Christopher Cowan, and Amy Pepke.

¹ Johnson & Johnson also filed a notice of appeal which is pending before this Court. The appellate case number for that appeal is 2025-000065.

On August 15, 2024, the jury awarded \$32,656,250 in actual damages against A-I-I and Johnson & Johnson. Additionally, the jury awarded \$760,000 in punitive damages against A-I-I and \$30 million in punitive damages against Johnson & Johnson. Judgement was entered on August 19, 2024.

A-I-I filed post-trial motions on August 26, 2024, pursuant to Rules 50(b) and 59(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. A-I-I also filed post-trial motions pursuant to Rules 60(b) and 62. While those motions were pending, A-I-I served and filed its initial notice of appeal with this Court on September 13, 2024, along with a motion to hold the appeal in abeyance pending resolution of the post-trial motions. This Court granted the motion to hold the appeal in abeyance.

The circuit court held a hearing on the post-trial motions on September 24 – 25, 2024. The court denied all A-I-I's post-trial motions except one. The circuit court granted A-I-I's motion for a new trial nisi remittitur and reduced the jury's actual damages award by a total of \$7 million, leaving a verdict of \$25,656,250. This reduction, in conjunction with the \$11,255,000 set-off from the pretrial settlements with the other defendants left an actual damages award of \$14,401,250. The circuit court did not reduce the punitive damages award against A-I-I. The court did reduce the punitive damages award against Johnson & Johnson to \$25 million.

A-I-I served and filed its amended notice of appeal on December 27, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue 1

“Determining whether to set aside an entry of default lies solely within the sound discretion of the circuit court and that decision will not be overturned absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” *White Oak Manor, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 1, 10, 753 S.E.2d 537, 542 (2014) (citing *Richardson v. P.V., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 614, 682 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2009)). “An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Weeks v. Drawdy (In re Estate of Weeks)*, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing *Ricks v. Weinrauch*, 293 S.C. 372, 360 S.E.2d 535 (Ct. App. 1987)). “An error of law includes failing to consider all of the factors relevant to a particular decision.” *Ex Parte: DeBordieu Colony Cmty. Ass’n, Inc.*, 442 S.C. 285, 290, 898 S.E.2d 179, 181 (Ct. App. 2024).

However, “[i]n a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court.” *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 194, 607 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2005) (citing *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000)).

Issue 2

Whether an award of punitive damages violated a defendant’s federal due process rights is subject to de novo review. *Cooper Indus. v. Leatherman Tool Grp., Inc.*, 532 U.S. 424, 431 (2001) (resolving confusion among appellate courts regarding proper standard of review in constitutional challenges to punitive damage awards).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Michael Perry and his spouse, Lonnie Long, lived together in Charleston, South Carolina. Mr. Perry was diagnosed with mesothelioma in July of 2023.

Mr. Perry began using talc powder when he was four or five years old in 1974 and used it continuously until 2019. When Mr. Perry was a child, his mother would use Johnson's Baby Powder on him "[e]very single day. Multiple times a day, if there was a second bathing." Tr. 1647, ll. 3 – 6. Mr. Perry's mother would "pour the powder into her hand, and rub it from [his] high neck down [his] torso, under [his] arms, all the way down [the] trunk of [his] body, into [his] genitalia, buttocks, [and] back." Tr. 1647, l. 23 – 1648, l. 3. Mr. Perry continued using this same powdering process as an adult. Tr. 1648, ll. 4 – 8.

Although Mr. Perry testified that he used other brands of talc powder, the powder he used most was Johnson & Johnson Baby Powder. Tr. 1644, ll. 19 – 25; tr. 1664, l. 2 – 1668, l. 20. In fact, Mr. Perry testified that the amount of other brands' powder that he used wasn't "even close" to the amount of Johnson's Baby Powder he used. Tr. 1689, ll. 5 – 17. The reason he used Johnson's Baby Powder was because "it was a family brand. We connected with that whole family concept. It was safe. It was good for babies." Tr. 1645, ll. 1 – 6.

Mr. Perry moved to South Carolina as an adult and continued using Johnson's Baby Powder but increased his usage due to the hot and humid climate. Tr. 1650, l. 16 – 1651, l. 1. As an adult, he used Johnson's Baby Powder "a minimum of two times a day," and sometimes he would use it as many as four times a day. Tr. 1653, ll. 1 – 9.

Mr. Perry was an Eagle Scout and recalled that on camping trips, he would squirt Johnson's Baby Powder in his sleeping bag so that he could "smell something other than the burning of the [camp] fire." Tr. 1656, ll. 9 – 23. He also played hockey and swam competitively. He used

Johnson's Baby Powder in "[his] gear bag, [his] shoulder pads, [his] leg, and leg pads." Tr. 1657, ll. 5 – 13. When he swam, he would put Johnson's Baby Powder in his swim cap and "pour it over the top of [his] head right before [he] jumped in the water." Tr. 1657, ll. 16 – 21.

When Mr. Perry was doing his "sailing adventures" through the Florida Keys and the Bahamas, he used Johnson's Baby Powder even more because the ocean water would dry his skin out. He "used a tremendous amount of talc products on [his] skin to—it being the Johnson & Johnson on [his] skin, to keep [his] shirt from sticking to [him]." Tr. 1658, ll. 2 – 17. The main reason Mr. Perry used so much Johnson's Baby Powder was because he was allergic to deodorant and the powder helped him to "stay fresh." Tr. 1659, ll. 3 – 12.

Mr. Perry recalled that the label on Johnson's Baby Powder indicated that adults could "[u]se [it] everyday to feel soft, fresh, and comfortable," and that in reliance on that label he "bathed in this product." Tr. 1655, ll. 1 – 10. He "would never have brought [Johnson's Baby Powder] into [his] house" if he believed the product was dangerous. Tr. 1661, l. 10 – 1662, l. 2.

Mr. Perry also testified that he believed he may have been exposed to asbestos from the ages of fifteen to eighteen when he regularly changed the brakes on two of his vehicles. Tr. 1677, l. 17 – 1678, l. 2. Mr. Perry estimated that he installed brakes on those two cars approximately six dozen times. Tr. 1678, ll. 19 – 24. Each brake installation took about two hours and, although he tried not to breathe in the dust, he acknowledged that there was a dark-colored cloud of dust that he was near. Tr. 1679, ll. 3 – 22.

Dr. Steven Haber, who was qualified as an expert in internal medicine and pulmonology for Plaintiffs, testified that Johnson's Baby Powder "play[ed] a role" in Mr. Perry's cancer. Tr. 355, ll. 2 – 10. Dr. Haber testified that mesothelioma is not curable, and that Mr. Perry's life expectancy was approximately eighteen months from the time he was diagnosed. Tr. 370, ll. 9 – 19.

ARGUMENT

1.

The circuit court erred in denying A-I-I's motion to set aside default under Rule 55(c), and default judgment under Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Relevant Facts

Initial Complaint, Answer, and First Motion to Set Aside Default

Plaintiffs' initial summons and complaint were filed on August 4, 2023. Plaintiffs moved for entry of default against A-I-I on September 26, 2023. Counsel for Plaintiffs submitted an affidavit indicating that the summons and complaint were served to A-I-I on August 9, 2023, by delivery to its "authorized representative Terri Cooper," and that A-I-I's answer was due on September 9, 2023.² Pl.s' mot. for default.

A-I-I filed its initial answer on September 29, 2023, three days after Plaintiffs moved for default. In its answer, A-I-I pleaded numerous defenses, including that it was not the successor-in-interest to Clubman or Pinaud. Initial answer, def. 21. A-I-I also asserted that none of the products it sold contained asbestos and that it did not cause Mr. Perry's mesothelioma. *Id.*, defs. 28, 53.

The circuit court granted Plaintiffs' motion for default without a hearing on October 3, 2023. The court ordered the Plaintiffs to comply with the notice requirements of Rule 55(b)(2), of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure for any damages hearing. Order granting default.

A-I-I filed a motion to set aside default on October 10, 2023. A-I-I argued that service of the initial complaint was improper and that its failure to file its answer on time was due to a good

² September 9, 2023, was a Saturday and the attached affidavit of service indicated that Terri Cooper received the summons and complaint on August 10, 2023 (not August 9, 2023, as Plaintiffs represented to the circuit court). If A-I-I was properly served, its answer would have been due on September 11, 2023. *See* Rule 6(a), SCRCP.

faith mistake. Mot. to set aside default, 1. Specifically, A-I-I indicated that the person who was given a copy of the summons and complaint by the Plaintiffs' process server was not authorized to accept service on behalf of A-I-I. *Id.*, 2.

Even though service was improper, A-I-I forwarded the pleadings to its national counsel, Julia Gowin. On August 11, 2023, Gowin recommended that a law firm with an office in South Carolina be hired to defend A-I-I in the case. Gowin aff. pars. 3-4. The insurer acknowledged receipt of the complaint and noted that a conflict check would need to be completed before retaining local counsel. *Id.*, par. 5. As of September 11, 2023, conflict checks had still not been completed for local counsel. *Id.*, par. 7.

Upon receiving Plaintiffs' motion for default against A-I-I, Gowin had another attorney in her office, Paula Pendley, who was also involved in representing A-I-I outside of South Carolina, contact Plaintiffs' attorneys to explain their difficulties in securing local counsel and to request an extension to file A-I-I's answer. *Id.*, par. 10. Plaintiffs' counsel refused this request. *Id.*, par. 11. Upon learning of Plaintiffs' refusal to agree to an extension, Gowin reached out to an Atlanta-based attorney who agreed to file an answer on behalf of A-I-I that same day. *Id.*, par. 11. A-I-I was finally able to obtain local counsel, Stephanie Flynn, on October 9, 2023, just six days after the circuit court signed the order finding A-I-I in default. Mot. to set aside default, 3.

In its motion to set aside default, A-I-I pointed out that it had consistently indicated its intent to be an active participant in the litigation and that minimal discovery had taken place as of the date of filing its motion to set aside the default. In fact, the deposition of Michael Perry had just begun on the same day A-I-I filed its motion and A-I-I participated in that deposition without objection from Plaintiffs. *Id.*, 4. A-I-I argued that default should be set aside for good cause shown and pointed out that disposition of cases on the merits is favored in South Carolina. *Id.*, 5.

Plaintiffs filed a response to A-I-I's motion to set aside default in which they acknowledged that Paula Pendley had reached out to Counsel for Plaintiffs to tell them that A-I-I had been struggling to secure local counsel. Plaintiffs also acknowledged that Ms. Pendley requested an extension to file A-I-I's answer which Plaintiffs' Counsel refused. Plaintiffs admitted they agreed to such requests for other defendants but refused to consent to A-I-I's request because, according to them, A-I-I "was already in default." Pl.s' status update, 1-2. Plaintiffs asserted that default should not be set aside because, (1) service was proper, and (2) A-I-I's attorneys were negligent in failing to request an extension to file A-I-I's answer prior to September 11, 2023. *Id.*, 3-4.

The circuit court held a hearing on A-I-I's motion to set aside default on October 25, 2023. At that hearing, Stephanie Flynn and Timothy Peck appeared on behalf of A-I-I. Theile McVey appeared on behalf of Plaintiffs. Oct. 25 Tr. 1.

Ms. Flynn pointed out that setting aside default would not cause any prejudice to Plaintiffs and that A-I-I had appeared at Mr. Perry's deposition and cross examined him without objection. Oct. 25 Tr. 6, l. 18 – 7, l. 3. Ms. Flynn acknowledged that, if service was effective on Terri Cooper, the deadline for A-I-I's answer would have been September 11, 2023, and that it had missed that deadline. Oct. 25 Tr. 7, ll. 10 – 16. When Terri Cooper received the initial complaint, A-I-I forwarded it to its insurer with instructions to obtain local counsel which wasn't done. A-I-I was not made aware of the fact that local counsel had not been secured until it received Plaintiffs' motion for default. It was then that A-I-I dispensed with the normal channels of obtaining counsel and sought to obtain counsel on its own. Oct. 25 Tr. 7, l. 17 – 8, l. 1.

The circuit court stated that there are a "wealth of cases that say that if the insurance company drops the ball, that doesn't cut it. So what we're left with in this case is 'Was service proper?'" Oct. 25 Tr. 8, ll. 5 – 14. Ms. Flynn argued that service was not proper because Terri

Cooper was not an officer of A-I-I. Ms. Flynn acknowledged that Terri Cooper's title was "executive vice president," but explained that A-I-I had given that title to several employees and that none of those employees were officers of the partnership. The only officer of A-I-I is the president. Oct. 25 Tr. 10, ll. 1 – 15. The circuit court responded that if Terri Cooper was being held out as an officer, service could be made on her. The court found that the title "executive vice president" seemed to confer such authority. Oct. 25 Tr. 10, l. 16 – 11, l. 12.

Ms. Flynn cited *Roberson v. S. Fin. of S.C., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 15 S.E.2d 112 (2005) in support of A-I-I's position that service on Terri Cooper was insufficient. Oct. 25 Tr. 12, ll. 5 – 23. Ms. Flynn pointed out that Brian Dror is the registered agent for each of the partners of A-I-I and, as such, he was the correct person to serve. Oct. 25 Tr. 12, l. 24 – 13, l. 10. Mr. Dror was in fact served with the initial summons and complaint as to Defendant Glamour Industries which was the managing partner for A-I-I and was also a named defendant in this case.³ Oct. 25 Tr. 13, ll. 11 – 24. Ms. Flynn argued that A-I-I was not attempting to thwart service, it had meritorious defenses, and that South Carolina favors resolution of cases on their merits. Oct. 25 Tr. 14, ll. 6 – 15.

Ms. McVey argued, and the circuit court accepted, that A-I-I's purported difficulties in obtaining local counsel occurred only after September 11, 2023, and was therefore irrelevant to the question of whether default should be set aside. Oct. 25 Tr. 16, l. 12 – 17, l. 15. Additionally, Ms. McVey argued that Terri Cooper, as executive vice president, was an "officer" of A-I-I which made service on her effective. Oct. 25 Tr. 17, l. 16 – 18, l. 11.

The circuit court denied the motion to set aside default finding that Terri Cooper had apparent authority to accept service and that the insurer's failure to obtain an attorney in time to answer the initial complaint did not constitute good cause to be relieved from entry of default. Oct.

³ Plaintiffs and Glamour entered a joint stipulation of dismissal prior to trial.

25 Tr. 18, l. 12 – 20, l. 1; Order denying mot. to set aside default. Having concluded that A-I-I failed to show good cause, the circuit court refused to consider the factors outlined by this Court in *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501 (Ct. App. 1989).

Amended Complaints, Timely Answers, and Renewed Requests to Set Aside Default

Plaintiffs sought leave to file an amended complaint to add a new defendant on November 9, 2023, which was granted by the circuit court on November 21, 2023. Plaintiffs e-filed the amended complaint on November 30, 2023, which named A-I-I as a defendant. This complaint did not incorporate the initial complaint or refer to it at all. Because several lawyers had entered appearances on behalf of A-I-I at that time, they were all automatically served with this amended complaint pursuant to Rules 4(e)(2) and 4(e)(3) of the South Carolina Electronic Filing Policies and Guidelines. Specifically, Stephanie Flynn, Nicholas Cherry, and Allyson Twilley—local attorneys for A-I-I—were all served with the first amended complaint. A-I-I timely filed its answer on December 8, 2023. Plaintiffs did not move to strike this timely answer.

Plaintiffs again sought leave to file a second amended complaint to add another defendant on January 31, 2024, which the circuit court granted. Plaintiffs filed their second amended complaint on February 1, 2024. Again, all counsel of record, including Counsel for A-I-I, were automatically served with this e-filed complaint. As such, A-I-I, through its Counsel, timely filed its answer to Plaintiffs' second amended complaint on February 16, 2024. Again, Plaintiffs did not move to strike A-I-I's answer.

A-I-I continued to actively participate in litigating the case and on April 24, 2024, filed a motion for a protective order seeking to protect its sensitive and private financial information from Plaintiffs' deposition notice with subpoena duces tecum request. A-I-I mot. for protective order. In

that motion, A-I-I pointed out that it was no longer in default because it had timely answered both of Plaintiffs' amended complaints. *Id.*

Plaintiffs filed their own motion for a protective order in response to A-I-I serving notice of intent to subpoena some of Mr. Perry's employment records related to his exposure to asbestos. Pl.s' mot. for protective order. Plaintiffs argued that A-I-I remained in default despite its timely answers to the first and second amended complaints. *Id.* Plaintiffs filed a second motion for a protective order to prohibit A-I-I from participating in "any expert discovery except for the issue of damages." Pl.s' second mot. for protective order.

Plaintiffs argued that A-I-I was asserting a novel theory that timely answering an amended complaint moots a prior entry of default. Plaintiffs argued that A-I-I was not required to be served with the amended complaints under Rule 5(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure because the substantive claims against A-I-I were not changed. As such, Plaintiffs maintained that A-I-I could not cure default by timely answering those complaints. *Id.*

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