THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001550
Civil Action No. 2023-CP-40-04072

Michael L. Perry and Lonnie Long, Respondents,

v.

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

In *Koninklijke Philips Elecs. N.V. v. KXD Tech., Inc.*, the federal district court

held that the default as to the original complaint was not cured by the defendant's answer to the amended complaint. No. 205CV01532RLHGWF, 2008 WL 11476081, at *4.

As a general rule, an amendment of the complaint after a default has been taken, which introduces a new cause of action, or goes to the substance of the pleading, operates to open the default, but *an amendment in matters of form rather than substance does not operate to open the default* [or default judgment].

Id. at *3 (quoting 49 C.J.S. Judgments § 431 (2008)) (emphasis added). The federal district court looked to earlier state court decisions: *Shepherd v. Grayson Motor Co.*, 200 Ark. 199, 139 S.W.2d 54, 55 (1940); *Stack v. Welder*, 43 P.2d 270 (1935); *Price v. Skylstead*, 69 Mont. 453, 222 P. 1059, 1061 (1924). As the Montana Supreme Court recognized more than 100 years ago, "It is the general rule that an amendment of the complaint made after default operates to open the default, provided it introduces a new cause of action or goes to the substance of the pleading, otherwise it does not." *Price*, 69 Mont. 453, 222 P. at 1061 (internal citations omitted).

The Court's order follows the reasoning and rule set out in these cases. The claims against A-I-I were not changed by the amended complaints, and A-I-I, having "previously disregarded its opportunity for defending itself or presenting additional issues or claims in the action," should not be "fortuitously allowed to 'restart the clock' for filing a response." *Ness*, 227 Wis. 2d at 605, 596 N.W.2d at 372 (citation omitted). The plaintiff should not have to choose between amending the complaint as to other parties and taking a default judgment against the party who "previously disregarded its opportunity for defending itself." *Id.* at 606, 596 N.W.2d at 372. This Court's ruling was well reasoned and consistent with South Carolina law.

Because A-I-I remained in default, it was a matter of the Court's discretion whether to set aside the entry of default. *Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 606, 681 S.E.2d at 888). Under Rule 55(c), SCRPC, the defaulting defendant must show "good cause" to be relieved of an entry of default. *Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 607, 681 S.E.2d at 888. Again, A-I-I did not even file a motion for relief after it answered the amended complaint. A-I-I has not shown good cause, and the Court was well within its discretion in not setting aside the entry of default.

C. The trial court acted within its discretion in denying A-I-I's request to set aside the default judgment.

A-I-I contends it should have been relieved of the default judgment for the same reasons it contends it should have been relieved of the entry of default. (Br. at 40.) It also argues that the default judgment must be set aside because it did not get required notice of the damages hearing. *Id.* Because A-I-I had actual notice of the damages trial and participated in the damages trial, its argument should be rejected.

Rule 5(a), SCRPC provides that "notice of any trial or hearing on unliquidated damages shall also be given to parties in default." Rule 55(b)(2) directs that this notice be given by first class mail. Plaintiffs did not use first class mail. However, there is no question that A-I-I had *actual* notice of the damages trial more than three days before. On June 28, 2024, A-I-I acknowledged in its Petition for a Writ of Certiorari that trial was scheduled for August 5, 2024. (R. p. 0694.) On June 29, 2024, A-I-I moved the trial court to stay the damages trial against it. (R. p. 0949, lines 13-23.) At the pretrial hearing, A-I-I's counsel stated A-I-I would "definitely be here" for trial. (R. p. 0950, lines 2-6.) A-I-I participated in the pretrial hearing and at trial regarding

damages. In fact, Plaintiffs served A-I-I with a trial subpoena by Federal Express. (R. p. 0912.) A-I-I cites no case, and Plaintiffs have found none, where a default judgment was vacated for a new damages trial or hearing when the defendant was present and participated in the damages trial or hearing.

1. A-I-I waived any complaint of inadequate notice.

A-I-I did not raise the issue of inadequate notice at any time before the trial in this case. A-I-I “denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object,” and so it waived the opportunity to raise the issue of inadequate notice post-trial and on appeal. *State v. Pauling*, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996). For example, in *State v. Ariail*, the supreme court held that, by proceeding to trial, the criminal defendant waived objection concerning waiver of arraignment. 311 S.C. 35, 37, 426 S.E.2d 751, 753 (1993). A-I-I proceeded to participate in the trial while saying nothing about lack of notice. Thus, A-I-I waived any objection to notice.

2. Requiring a new damages hearing when A-I-I participated in the damages trial does not serve the purposes of Rule 55.

As A-I-I acknowledges, the purpose of the rule is to “ensur[e] that notice is properly received by all entitled to it.” (Br. at 40 (quoting *McCall v. IKON*, 363 S.C. 646, 655, 611 S.E.2d 315, 319 (Ct. App. 2005)).) In *McCall*, where the defendants *did not appear* for the damages hearing, the court found that sending a single letter to two defendants was inadequate notice of the damages hearing because one defendant would be required to pass the letter on to the second defendant before actual notice was achieved:

The need to properly serve each party individually does not arise from an arcane or highly technical application of the rules. Rather, this requirement serves an essential function—ensuring that notice is properly received by all entitled to it. Addressing a single notice to two distinct parties as McCall did in the present case, sharply diminishes the likelihood that both will actually receive notice, as such a method necessarily depends upon one of the parties “passing along” the notification to the other. The rules of service are designed to eliminate the need for such contingencies.

Id. (emphasis added). The concern in *McCall* was that the parties entitled to it “actually receive notice.” *Id.* A-I-I *did* “actually receive notice,” a fact that it cannot deny. In this case, requiring a new damages hearing because A-I-I received notice of the trial/hearing by electronic service and Federal Express rather than first class mail *when A-I-I actually appeared and participated at the trial* would indeed be “an arcane and highly technical application of the rules.” *Id.*

A-I-I points to language from *Lewis v. Congress of Racial Equality and/or C.O.R.E., Inc.*, 275 S.C. 556, 274 S.E.2d 287 (1981), where the court stated, “Participation by the defending party will give to the judge and/or jury a broader understanding of the amount which should be awarded and will tend to insure a [fairer] verdict and judgment.” (Br. at 40 (quoting *Lewis*, 275 S.C. 556, 561, 274 S.E.2d 287, 289 (1981)).) *Lewis* was concerned when situations in which “the defaulting party is not given an opportunity to participate in the damages hearing.” *Id.* at 561, 274 S.E.2d at 290. Again, these concerns do not arise when the defendant actually participates in the damages trial, as A-I-I did.

Neither does *Dymon, Inc. v. Hyman*, 305 S.C. 170, 406 S.E.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1991), support A-I-I’s argument. In that case, although the defendant had appeared by filing a late answer, he was completely unaware of the application for a judgment

of default against him. In fact, he was unaware default judgment had been entered until several months later. *Id.* at 171, 406 S.E.2d at 389. Although Dymon had entered an appearance, he was not aware of and did not participate in the case or have the opportunity to challenge the plaintiff's application for default judgment. A-I-I's situation is very different.

Even if A-I-I were correct, it is unclear what the proper relief would be. Plaintiffs' damages have been determined in an adversarial trial in which Johnson & Johnson Entities *and* A-I-I participated. The purpose of granting a new damages hearing when the defendant did not receive notice is so that the defendant is able to participate. But A-I-I already has participated. Johnson & Johnson also participated and had exactly the same interest in minimizing damages. Granting A-I-I a new damages trial would risk inconsistent verdicts and offer A-I-I only the same opportunity it already had at the trial.

3. Complaints of inadequate notice do not relieve a defendant of the entry of default.

It would not be proper to relieve A-I-I of its default based on inadequate notice of the damages trial. In *McCall*, the court remanded the case for a new damages hearing because neither defendant appeared and there was no evidence the second defendant received actual notice of the damages hearing. 363 S.C. at 648, 650, 654–55, 611 S.E.2d at 316, 317, 319. The lack of notice had no impact on the entry of default, and neither should it here. A-I-I acknowledges as much in its brief, offering lack of notice by mail only as a reason to set aside the default judgment.

4. The trial court properly entered default judgment following the damages trial.

A-I-I includes two sentences in its argument about notice that the circuit court independently entered default judgment when Plaintiffs did not apply for it. (Br. at 41-42.) As the trial court noted in the post-trial order, Rule 55 does not provide the method by which a plaintiff must request default judgment. It simply provides that “the party entitled to a judgment by default shall apply to the court therefor.” Rule 55(b)(2), SCRPC. Plaintiffs had moved for entry of default. At the pretrial hearing, Plaintiffs’ counsel reminded the trial court that A-I-I was in default. The court and the parties discussed at length how to conduct the damages trial. The word default appears 119 times in the trial transcripts. The trial court was aware Plaintiffs sought default judgment, as was A-I-I. A formal request post-verdict was not required.

II. A-I-I’s due process rights were not violated in the imposition of punitive damages.

A. The allegations were sufficient to provide A-I-I fair notice of the conduct that subjected it to punitive damages.

A-I-I quite reasonably does not contend that it could not be held in default as to punitive damages. *See Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 116, 744 S.E.2d 566, 579 (2013) (recognizing that defendant can default on punitive damages). Rather, A-I-I argues that the allegations in the complaint were insufficient because they did not provide A-I-I with “fair notice of the conduct that will subject him to punishment.” (Br. at 46.)

In *Gore*, the Supreme Court noted that a defendant must “receive fair notice

... of the conduct that will subject him to punishment.”⁵ *BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 574, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 1598, 134 L. Ed. 2d 809 (1996). The South Carolina Supreme Court has noted that due process safeguards apply in default cases involving punitive damages, in that “the relief granted in a default judgment is limited to that supported by the allegations in the Complaint...” *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 116, 744 S.E.2d 566, 579 (2013).

In fact, the pleadings did give A-I-I sufficient notice and support the finding of willful, wanton, or reckless conduct:

- “...defendants manufactured products composed of talc that were sold and marketed as safe for daily use by consumers on their person...” (R. p. 0137 at ¶ 148.)
- Defendants “made false statements to plaintiff, the general public, news media and government agencies” as part of “intentional efforts to deceive the general public as to the safety of and presence of carcinogens, including asbestos, in talc-containing products.” (R. p. 0138 at ¶ 149.)
- Plaintiffs alleged that Defendants “have represented to various news media outlets and the public at large that their products are ‘asbestos-free,’ when, in fact, their products did test positive for asbestos and those that did not were merely the result of inadequate and imprecise testing methods.” (R. p. 0150 at ¶ 183.)

⁵ At least one federal court of appeals has distinguished between the notice to be given of possible penalties vs. notice of unlawfulness of the conduct: “Notice of possible penalties is not to be confused with notice of the unlawfulness of the underlying conduct; the latter is irrelevant to the constitutionality of a punitive damages award.” *Romanski v. Detroit Ent., L.L.C.*, 428 F.3d 629, 648 (6th Cir. 2005) (citing *BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 580, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 1601, 134 L. Ed. 2d 809 (1996); *DiSorbo v. Hoy*, 343 F.3d 172, 186 (2d Cir. 2003); *Lee v. Edwards*, 101 F.3d 805, 809 (2d Cir. 1996)). Indeed, constitutional review of punitive damages cases generally addresses alleged excessiveness of those awards. See *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell*, 538 U.S. 408, 426, 123 S. Ct. 1513, 1524, 155 L. Ed. 2d 585 (2003) (“courts must ensure that the measure of punishment is both reasonable and proportionate to the amount of harm to the plaintiff and to the general damages recovered”); *Cooper Indus., Inc. v. Leatherman Tool Grp., Inc.*, 532 U.S. 424, 434, 121 S. Ct. 1678, 1684, 149 L. Ed. 2d 674 (2001) (“the constitutional violations were predicated on judicial determinations that the punishments were ‘grossly disproportional to the gravity of ... defendant[s] offense[s]’”); *Gore*, 517 U.S. at 580.

- Plaintiffs alleged at length Defendants' knowledge of the risk and the basis for that knowledge. (R. pp. 0138-0143 at ¶¶ 150-159, 161-165; R. p. 0147 at ¶ 174.)
- "Plaintiff Michael L. Perry and other exposed persons did not know of the substantial danger of using Defendants' asbestos, asbestos-containing talc products, and products manufactured for foreseeable personal use by individuals like Plaintiff." (R. p. 0129 at ¶ 115.)

In the original complaint, as noted above, Plaintiffs alleged that Defendants knew their products contained asbestos and still marketed them as safe. Plaintiffs alleged that Defendants represented to the public that their products are "asbestos-free," when they knew this to be untrue. These allegations, among others, support Plaintiffs' claim for punitive damages.

A-I-I argues, however, that these pleadings were insufficient because they did not specify conduct *individually* as to A-I-I, but rather pleaded *collectively* the knowledge and bad conduct of Defendants. (Br. at 45.) A-I-I presents no authority for its argument that Plaintiffs cannot make allegations against Defendants collectively, and in fact, there is authority to the contrary. *See, e.g., Green v. Indus. Life & Health Ins. Co.*, 199 S.C. 262, 18 S.E.2d 873, 875-76 (1942) (finding allegations adequate to state cause of action when plaintiff alleged conduct of defendants acting together); *McKellar v. Stanton*, 104 S.C. 248, 88 S.E. 527, 527 (1916) (same).

In federal courts as well, plaintiffs are permitted to plead collectively the conduct of multiple defendants: "When multiple defendants are named in a complaint, the allegations can be and usually are to be read in such a way that each defendant is having the allegation made about him individually." *Crowe v. Coleman*, 113 F.3d 1536, 1539 (11th Cir. 1997). "The practice only runs afoul of the applicable

pleading standard where it results in a complaint that fails to give each defendant notice of the claims against it.” *Sprint Sols., Inc. v. Fils-Amie*, 44 F. Supp. 3d 1224, 1227 (S.D. Fla. 2014) (citation omitted). The allegations gave A-I-I fair notice of the facts supporting the punitive damages claim against it.

Respondents do not contest A-I-I was entitled to fair notice of the conduct that subjected it to punitive damages. Such notice is important to support the default judgment. *See Limehouse*, 404 S.C. at 116, 744 S.E.2d at 579. A-I-I received that notice through the pleadings in this case. Any fair reading of the pleadings would inform A-I-I that it was alleged to have engaged in willful, wanton, and reckless conduct when it sold a product it knew contained asbestos without providing warnings and, in fact, misled the public about the safety of its product. A-I-I received the necessary notice.

B. The punitive damages award did not exceed constitutional limits.

A-I-I did not include in its statement of issues any contention that the punitive damages award was unconstitutional large. “Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.” Rule 208, SCACR. Thus, Respondents contend that A-I-I has waived any challenge to the size of the punitive damages award. However, in its argument, A-I-I applies factors that go to the constitutionality of the size of the punitive damages award. For that reason, in an abundance of caution, Respondents address those factors as well.

1. The allegations demonstrate reprehensible conduct.

A-I-I contends “there was absolutely no consideration by the jury or the circuit

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